1997

Mary J. Rehn v. Charles C. Rehn : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendant appeals from a final decree of divorce within this Court's jurisdiction under *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-2a-3(2)(h)(1996).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: The trial court failed to make the necessary findings for the amount and length of its alimony award; for its deviation from the child support guidelines; and for its award of attorneys fees.

Standard of Review: Trial judges are given "some discretion" in determining mixed questions of fact and law. *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 936-40 (Utah 1994). Trial Courts have considerable discretion in determining alimony in divorce cases, and will be upheld on appeal unless a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion is demonstrated. *Rasband v. Rasband*, 752 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah App. 1988). In reviewing child . . . support proceedings, . . . [we] will not disturb the district court's actions unless the court exceeded . . . its . . . discretion. *Woodward v. Woodward*, 709

P.2d 393, 394 (Utah 1985); We review . . . for correctness to the extent it involves questions of statutory interpretation. *Utah Sign, Inc. v. Utah Dep't of Transp.*, 896 P.2d 632, 633 (Utah 1995); Even though the trial court has considerable latitude to adjust financial and property interests, an appellate court will reverse for abuse of discretion. *Hall v. Hall* 858 P.2d 1018, 1021 (Utah App. 1993); "Whether the trial court's findings of fact in support . . . of attorney fees are sufficient is . . . a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *Selvage v. J.J. Johnson & Assoc.* 910 P.2d 1252, 1257 (Utah App. 1996).

Grounds for Review: The amount of alimony issue is preserved on the record at Tr. 112-113 and Ex. J.¹ The length of alimony issue is preserved on the record at Tr. 10. The child support issue is preserved on the record at Tr. 3, Tr. 94, Tr. 96-97, Ex. J.² The division of debts issue is preserved on the record at Tr. 114.³ The attorneys fees issue is preserved at Tr. 8.

¹ At Tr. 112-114, Charles' attorney argues that Mary is free to seek a full time position commensurate with her rate of pay in 1992 of over \$13.00/hour and that some of her expenses are inflated. Ex. J is a list of Charles' living expenses.

² At Tr. 3, Mary's attorney states the stipulation of the parties: "Visitation would be awarded to Defendant in a minimum of the standard and reasonable visitation by Utah Code Annotated 30-3-35. The parties have also cooperated well together in sharing the time with the children, and when one party is working, the other party caring for the children. I think that should continue. They both agree." At Tr. 96-97, Charles testifies that over the eighteen month separation the amount of time he has had the children is 45% of the days and nights and Charles' attorney states on the record that the parties agree that is the amount.

³ At Tr. 114, Charles' attorney argues for equal division of debts.

Issue 2: The trial court erred in excluding Charles's witness regarding Mary's underemployment and income potential.

Standard of Review: "We will not interfere with a trial court's case management unless its actions amount to an abuse of discretion." *See Dugan v. Jones*, 615 P.2d 1239, 1244 (Utah 1980).

Grounds for Review: The witness exclusion issue is preserved at Tr. 79-89 and Tr. 111.⁴

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The following constitutional and statutory provisions are set forth in full in Addendum C attached to the Brief:

Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5; *Utah Code Ann.* §78-45-2(13); *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-45-7.2; *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-45-7.5.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Appellant Charles Rehn appeals that portion of the divorce decree awarding excessive alimony to Mary Rehn and excessive child support, and ordering Charles to pay

⁴ At Tr. 79-89, the parties argue the issue of witness exclusion, the court rules and Charles' attorney proffers the testimony. At Tr. 111, Charles' attorney moves for a continuance of the trial in order to permit vocational experts to testify.

80% of a \$19,000 I.R.S. obligation and \$6,884.80 of Mary's attorney's fees. Charles also appeals the trial court's exclusion of his witness, Jim White, from testifying at trial. The Decree and Findings of Fact, entered September 26, 1997 are attached as Addenda A and B, respectively.

Course of the Proceedings and Disposition

The plaintiff's complaint for divorce and Charles's Counterclaim were tried August 14, 1997 before the Hon. Pat B. Brian in Summit County, Utah. The Trial Court entered the Findings and Decree on September 26, 1997, granting a divorce, dividing debts and awarding child support, alimony and attorney's fees (our pp. 119-130, Addendum A and B).

The formal divorce decree entered September 26, 1997 awarded to Mary \$1,045.00 of monthly child support; and \$1,200.00 per month permanent alimony based on her claimed 1996 net income of \$1,072.00 from various part time jobs. The Court also ordered Charles to pay \$6,884.80 of Mary's attorney's fees and 80% of the parties' approximate \$19,000.00 IRS obligation.

Defendant, Charles Rehn, filed a timely appeal.

Statement of the Facts

Charles and Mary Rehn were married in Story County, Iowa, on August 27, 1977. Two boys, ages six (6) and nine (9), are issue of the marriage. (Tr. 12-13.) Both boys attend public school in the Park City School District full time. (Tr. 43-44.) The parties

separated in February 1996. Since the parties' separation, Charles has had and continues to have the children forty-five percent (45%) of the days and nights in the year. The parties stipulated that they each would have joint legal care, custody and control of the children. (Tr. 3).

At trial the parties stipulated that Charles had the children forty-five percent (45%) of the days and nights. (Tr. 96-97) The attorneys read into the record the stipulation of the parties that their pattern of sharing the children should continue. (Tr.3). Charles paid for all of the family health insurance over and above the court ordered support and also provided housing, utilities and food for the boys when they were with him. (Tr. 89-94, Ex. J.).

Following their separation, Charles voluntarily paid total family support to Mary in the amount of \$1,400.00 per month. This amount was agreed upon by the parties and was paid in weekly increments. (Tr. 35.) On May 21, 1996, the trial court entered a temporary order raising family support to \$1,789.93 per month; \$750.00 of which was designated as temporary alimony. (Tr. 94.)

Mary earned her M.B.A. degree with an emphasis in marketing in 1985. She also has bachelors degrees in food and nutrition and dietetics. (Tr. 19-20, 86.) She has worked throughout the parties' marriage in the food service industry. In 1992, Mary voluntarily quit her position as the Food Service Director of the Park City School District at over \$13.00/hr. (Tr. 10-14.) Since 1992, she has worked several part-time jobs. (Tr.

15, 16.) Presently, she chooses to work part time as a waitress at a Park City restaurant, a ticket taker at a Park City ski resort and in the Dan's Foods catering department. Her income now is \$1,429.00 per month gross which is \$6.87 an hour. (Ex. 3 and 5.) In seeking employment, Mary has limited her job applications to Park City businesses and to positions requiring work only during public school hours. (Tr. 38-40).

Charles is employed as the managing engineer of Harding Lawson Associates' Salt Lake Office. (Tr. 74.) He has the highest position in this company in Salt Lake City. (Tr. 77.) Four weeks prior to trial, Charles received an annual pay raise of \$2,000.00 making his gross monthly income \$6,833.33 per month. (Tr. 74-75.)

In a pre-trial telephone conference the day before trial, Charles's counsel requested a witness who had been identified to opposing counsel in writing immediately after Mr. White was retained two days prior to trial. (Tr. 79-82). He would testify as to employment opportunities in the Salt Lake City and Park City areas for Appellee with two bachelor degrees and a M.B.A. (Tr. 80.) The judge said trial could be put off two to three months and alimony could be raised to assure there would be no financial prejudice to Appellee by delaying the trial date. (Tr. 80.) This would allow Appellee to have time to find an expert vocational witness. Appellee's counsel later left a telephone message with Charles's counsel stating that his client had agreed to the continuance. (P. 80, 85.) After Mary's attorney agreed to the continuance, Charles' attorney set a trial date and called Mary's attorney to inform him. At that time, Mary's attorney said no, "I am going

to trial [tomorrow].” (p. 80.) At trial, there was no motion in limine to exclude the witness. There was no objection to the witness by Appellee until Mr. White was put called to the stand at the end of the trial. (Tr. 79.) The judge then excluded the witness and denied Charles’s motion to continue the trial for purposes of receiving testimony from expert vocational witness based on the lateness of the designation and the inability of Mary to consult another expert prior to trial. (Tr. 84.)

At trial, the court ordered that alimony be increased from \$750.00 a month to \$1,200.00 a month. (Add. B.) The trial court ordered \$1045/month child support based on the sole support table. (Add. B.)

Mary estimated her disposable income as \$1,072/month, leaving her \$3,316 or more disposable income after receipt of support. (Ex. 3). Mary estimated Charles disposable income was \$2,880/month after payment of support. (Ex. 3, Ex. J). Charles’ unrefuted testimony was that his monthly expenses for himself and two children at home forty-five percent (45%) of the time were \$3,200 per month before any support, day care or debt service was paid. (Ex. J)

In addition to support, the court ordered Charles to pay \$15,200.00 of the I.R.S. debt. (Add. B) In addition, the court ordered Charles to pay \$6880.00 of Mary’s attorney fees, over and above his own attorneys fees of approximately the same amount. Mary desires to live and work in the Park City area and lives in subsidized housing at a

rent of \$530.00 per month. (Tr. 26, 38-39) Charles continues to reside in the parties' marital condominium at Jeremy Ranch with a rent of \$1,000.00 per month. (Ex. J.)

Two days before trial, Charles retained a vocational expert witness. The same day, Charles' attorney sent a letter to Mary's attorney notifying him of the witness. In a pre-trial telephone conference the day before trial Charles's counsel requested to put on a witness who could testify as to employability of Appellee with two bachelor degrees and a M.B.A. in the Salt Lake economy. Appellee's counsel objected because of insufficient notice. The judge said we could put off trial for two-to-three months and raise the alimony to \$900.00 per month to assure that there would be no financial prejudice to Appellee by delaying the trial date. This would allow Mary to have time to find an expert vocational witness. Appellee's counsel later left a telephone message with Charles' counsel stating that his client agreed to the continuance. After agreeing to the continuance, Charles' counsel set a new trial for April 15, 1998. When Charles' attorney called Mary's attorney back, he said, "I am going to trial [tomorrow]." At trial, there was no motion in limine to exclude Charles' vocational expert. There was no objection to the witness by Appellee until he was put on the stand at the end of the trial. The judge then excluded the witness based on the lateness of the designation of Charles's witness and denied Charles's motion to continue the trial for purpose of receiving testimony from expert vocational witnesses. (Tr. 79-89)

The court had set no deadlines for the designation of witnesses and ordered no exchange of expert witnesses before trial. (Add. D).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although the court awarded \$1,200.00 of alimony to Mary, there were no findings that Charles on the issues of Charles' expenses and whether Charles is able to pay the ordered alimony. Charles makes \$6,833/month but after almost \$2,000/month in taxes and monthly expenses of \$3,200 for himself and the children who are with him 45% of the time, there is not enough money to cover \$2,245/month in support. (Add. E)

Further the findings of Mary's need were conclusory and did not address the factual conflicts between the testimony of Mary Rehn and her estimated expenses in Exhibit 2 attached to Addendum 1. The finding of Mary's need of Attorney's fees is also cursory and doesn't address the apparent fact that Mary with a substantial support payment on top of her income is better able to pay her fees than is Charles.

The court also finds that Mary was not underemployed. However there are no specific findings on the issue although this is a disputed issue: Mary has had significant experience in food services management from 1977 - 1992 and she has bachelors degrees in dietetics and nutrition and has an M.B.A. in marketing. Instead of working in her field where she was earning over \$13.00/hour in late 1992, Mary chooses to work various part time jobs at an average of \$6.87/hour so that she only has to work when the children are

in school or with their father. (Tr. 36.) Because the court failed to make adequate findings as to its orders this case must be reversed and remanded.

The court erroneously excluded the vocational expert witness of Charles from testifying at the trial. Therefore, this case should be remanded for a new trial.

Charles should have been ordered to pay child support based on the joint custody schedule under *Udy v. Udy*, 893 P.2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Utah App. 1995). The parties have agreed that they will continue to share the children as they have done. Charles has had the children forty five percent (45%) of the time. Yet the court used the sole custody worksheet without making findings for its deviation from the statute.

ARGUMENT

Point I

The trial court failed to make the necessary findings for the amount and length of its alimony award; for its deviation from the child support guidelines; for its debt allocation; and for its award of attorneys fees.

A. Amount of Alimony.

1. Factors in *Jones v. Jones*, 700 P.2d 1072 (Utah 1985).

Although trial Courts have considerable discretion in determining alimony in divorce cases, and will be upheld on appeal unless a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion is demonstrated, *Rasband v. Rasband*, 752 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah App. 1988), failure to consider the *Jones* factors constitutes an abuse of discretion. *Paffel v. Paffel*, 732 P.2d 96, 101 (Utah 1986). The *Jones* factors are:

- a. The financial conditions and needs of the [spouse seeking support];
 - b. The ability of the [spouse seeking support] to produce a sufficient income for [himself or] herself; and
 - c. The ability of the [payor spouse] to provide support.
- Willey v. Willey*, 914 P.2d 1149, 1155 (Utah App. 1996).

These factors are discussed in detail, as follows:

a. The Financial Conditions and Needs of Mary.

The court made the following findings as to Mary's need: "the plaintiff clearly has the need for support." (*Findings* paragraph 37). "\$3,300 is not an unreasonable monthly expense for a mother and two children." (*Findings* paragraph 7). "The plaintiff's needs are well established at \$3317." (*Findings* paragraph 40, Ex. 2). "Those needs are reasonable, and are real." (*Findings* paragraph 33).

However, the court made no findings to explain the undisputed evidence that the following expenses listed in Exhibit 2 are not actual expenses of Mary:

Mary estimates a monthly expense of \$125.00 for counselor and attorney's fees, although the court ordered Charles to pay \$6850.00 in Mary's attorney's fees. The court made no finding as to evidence that

Mary needed \$125/month. in alimony to cover what the court had ordered Charles to pay. (Ex.2, Add. B)

Mary estimated \$136.00 of child care expense, although it was undisputed that Mary is choosing part time work so that she can be at home with the children after school and during their school breaks. (Tr. 43)

Mary estimated she spent \$150.00/month. for schooling for herself and the children, although it was undisputed that she was not currently enrolled in school and the children are in public school. (Tr. 21,43)

Mary projected her entertainment expense will be \$345.00, although it is undisputed that when the Rehn's lived together they averaged \$217/month. on entertainment from February to September, 1995. (Ex. M; Add. F)

The court makes no finding as to how it calculated Mary's taxes at the same rate to determine net income of \$1078 when it is undisputed that Charles had a much higher taxable income and she is awarded both children as tax exemptions and credits. (Ex. 2, Add. A) There was no evidence that Mary was not able to meet her expenses with support at \$1,400.00/month. or \$1,789.00/month. before the court raised it to \$2,245.00/month. There was no finding that Mary's needs changed from when the parties agreed at separation that the needs of the Petitioner over and above her income was \$1,400.00 a month total support although this issue was disputed. (Tr. 35).

Without a finding by the court as to which expenses it has used to determine Mary's monthly needs in light of the undisputed evidence against the need for several of Mary's claimed expenses listed in Ex. 2, it is impossible to determine how the court reached its final determination of Mary's need. Without adequate findings of need, the court abused its discretion in making an alimony award.

b. The Ability of Mary to Produce a Sufficient Income for Herself.

Although the court finds no issue of underemployment, the court has not heard all of the evidence because Charles' witness was improperly excluded. In addition, the findings made by the court do not show how the court determined that Mary does not need to work in her field at the pay level she has achieved historically.

The court made the following findings as to the earning capacity of Mary: "The record is unchallenged that for months on end she has worked weekends and holidays. She has scrounged for multiple jobs, some of them perhaps less dignified and less rewarding financially and otherwise than she would like to have, but, nevertheless, she has bent her back and gone to work. And the court finds there is just simply no issue of unemployment or underemployment, based on the historical roles the plaintiff and Charles have assumed in this marriage." (*Findings* paragraph 13). "The ability to earn income definitely favors Charles. The ratio is about 80 percent to the defendant, 20 percent to the plaintiff." (*Findings* paragraphs 8-9).

However, the trial court made no finding to explain the un rebutted evidence that when Mary took a full time position in 1992 she earned over \$13.00/hr. while her current part time jobs pay her an average rate of only \$6.87 per hour.

The court may use historical earnings to evaluate a spouse's earning capacity. In 1977, the court also decided *Westenskow v. Westenskow* 562 P.2d 1256 (Utah 1977). In that case, the plaintiff/husband was earning a salary of \$18,000.00 when he terminated his employment and organized his own company. Finding the trial court's award of alimony and child support in increasing increments was not inequitable, the court stated:

It would be reasonable for the court to infer that either plaintiff's income from his business would increase or he would seek other employment with adequate remuneration, reflecting his historical earning ability. *Id.*

More recently, the Utah Supreme Court again addressed the issue of historical earnings in *Olson v. Olson*, 704 P.2d 564 (Utah 1985). The husband's income fluctuated depending on current business contracts. At the time of the trial, he had no current income, but was negotiating a contract. The lower court correctly considered the husband's historical earnings:

We have held that where the husband has experienced a temporary decrease in income, his historical earnings must be taken into account in determining the amount of alimony to be paid.

Id. At 566.

Facts about Mary's underemployment were disputed. Mary voluntarily cut down to part time work to care for the small children. (Tr. 14). However, now the children are in school full time. She is qualified for the work force with many years of work experience in food and nutrition, from at least 1977-1992. As recently as 1992 she was earning over \$13.00/hour. (Tr. 13). Mary has two bachelor's degrees in the food service area and an M.B.A. in marketing. Yet Mary chooses to work in jobs that allow her to be with her children when they are not in school and to stay in Park City for work. (Tr.39).

This undisputed evidence suggests that Mary has education and work experience to qualify her for higher paying jobs. Yet there is no finding to explain how the court reached its decision that Mary was not underemployed. Because the court made inadequate specific findings in support of its determination of the issue of underemployment, the court abused its discretion.

c. The Ability of Charles to Provide Support.

Charles is making a good salary. However, the court made no findings whatsoever as to what his expenses and disposable income are. From the court's findings we do not know whether he can afford the amount of court ordered support after he meets his expenses for himself and the children when they are with him.

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