1997

## Mary J. Rehn v. Charles C. Rehn : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## ARGUMENT

**ISSUE 1: The trial court failed to make the necessary findings for the amount and length of its alimony award; for its deviation from the child support guidelines; and for its award of attorney’s fees.**

A. Award of Alimony.

Charles Rehn, in his appeal, attacks the Third District Court's award of permanent alimony to Mary Rehn in the amount of \$1200 per month. Courts have long recognized that the purpose of such support is to enable the receiving spouse to maintain as nearly as possible the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage. *Paffel v. Paffel*, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah 1986). In a divorce action, the trial court has considerable discretion in awarding alimony and, on appeal, this discretion will not be disturbed “absent a showing of a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion.” *Paffel*, 732 P.2d at 100; *Rashband v. Rashband*, 725 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah App. 1988).

The Utah Supreme Court has held that it is an abuse of discretion not to consider: (1) the financial condition and the needs of the spouse requesting alimony, (2) the ability of the spouse seeking alimony to provide sufficient income for him or herself, and (3) the ability of payor spouse to provide that support for the requesting spouse. *Paffel*, 732 P.2d at 100-101. However, “so long as the record is clear that the trial court has considered these three factors, we will not disturb its determination regarding alimony unless it has

clearly abused its discretion.” *Chambers v. Chambers*, 840 P.2d 841, 843 (Utah App.1992). Judge Brian, in his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, found that the parties had been married 20 years and, therefore, alimony was appropriate. (Findings, ¶ 30). In reviewing the financial condition and needs of Mary Rehn, Judge Brian referred to Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2, which sets out -- in detail -- Ms. Rehn’s monthly expenses. (Findings, ¶ 32). The Court then found these expenses reasonable and real, and that the needs of Ms. Rehn and her two children were approximately \$3300 per month. (Findings, ¶ 7, 32-33). The Court further noted that \$3300 per month in expenses is not unreasonable for a mother and two children, particularly when the expenses associated with the children would increase as the children grew in age. (Findings, ¶ 7).

In reviewing the ability of Ms. Rehn to provide income for herself and her two children, Judge Brian found that Ms. Rehn has been willing to provide for herself and her family. Specifically, he found that she has worked weekends and holidays to provide for her family (Findings, ¶ 11), and she has earned, while working as industriously as possible, \$1072 per month in income from her various jobs. (Findings, ¶ 34). The Court further noted that the emphasis of the parties has been to ensure that the children were properly cared for by their mother (Findings, ¶ 16), that Ms. Rehn had historically been the primary caretaker of the children (Findings, ¶ 14), and that despite that:

[she] has scrounged for multiple jobs, some of them perhaps less dignified and less rewarding financially and otherwise than she would have liked to have, but nevertheless, she has bent her back and gone to work.

(Findings, ¶ 12). Therefore, the Court concluded, there is “no issue of unemployment or underemployment based on the historical roles Plaintiff and Defendant have assumed in this marriage.” (Findings, ¶ 13).

In considering Charles Rehn’s ability to provide alimony for Mary Rehn, Judge Brian noted that Ms. Rehn had a clear need for assistance and Mr. Rehn had a clear ability to pay alimony. (Findings, ¶ 37). Specifically, where Charles Rehn earns \$6833 gross income per month and Mary Rehn earns \$1428 gross income per month (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2), the Court noted that the ratio of earned income earned between the parties is approximately 80% for Charles Rehn and 20% for Mary Rehn (Findings, ¶ 9). The Court went on to note that “[h]istorically, and as far as the court can see into the future, the ability to earn income definitely favors Defendant.” (Findings, ¶ 13). Finally, the Court recognized that, because of its order, “the parties are going to have to tighten their belts and make do with less.” (Findings, ¶ 20).

Appellee respectfully argues that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law clearly indicate that Judge Brian gave weight to and considered the facts relating to each of the three factors required by *Paffel*. The issue then remaining is whether this consideration amounted to a clear abuse of discretion. Judge Brian considered the income of both parties and the relationship that these incomes bore one to each other. He considered the monthly expenses of Mary Rehn and her children, and Ms. Rehn’s efforts and ability to provide for herself and her family. He considered the parties’ expenses and

the ability of Charles Rehn to pay alimony. In *Schaumberg v. Schaumberg*, the Utah Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in awarding the wife alimony because:

Wife submitted documents reflecting her changing circumstances as she moved from a family household to a single household. In addition, she testified at trial that her stated needs amounted to \$2272.58 per month. . . . [T]he court awarded Wife \$800 per month alimony, imputed an earning ability of \$1000 per month and awarded her a portion of Husband's military retainer amounting to \$589 per month. Thus, the court's award contemplated that Wife would receive a monthly income of \$2389. That figure is close to Wife's stated monthly need of \$2272.58. In view of the trial court's equitable distribution of the marital assets and debts, Wife's uncontroverted testimony regarding her projected needs and past standard of living, and Husband's ability to pay, we conclude that the court considered the necessary factors.

*Schaumberg v. Schaumberg*, 875 P.2d 598, 602 (Utah App. 1994); see also *Rosenbahl v. Rosenbahl*, 876 P.2d 870, 874 (Utah App. 1994).

On appeal, Charles Rehn argues that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to resolve factual discrepancies between Ms. Rehn's testimony and her estimated expenses as set forth in Plaintiff's Exhibit 2. The trial court, in exercising its discretion, gave weight to Ms. Rehn's expenses as set forth in Plaintiff's Exhibit 2 and found they were reasonable for a mother with two children. Furthermore, Mr. Rehn argues that the trial court making no findings as to Mr. Rehn's expenses or his ability to pay alimony. Mr. Rehn argues that his monthly income of \$6833 per month is insufficient to pay the \$2245 per month in child and spousal support ordered by the trial court, such support being only

33% of his current gross income.<sup>1</sup> The trial court did, in again exercising its discretion, find that Mr. Rehn's gross monthly income was four times that of Ms. Rehn, and that he has the ability to pay the support ordered.<sup>2</sup>

*Hill v. Hill* [869 P.2d 963, (Utah App. 1994)] addressed the issue of what constituted adequate findings of a spouse's ability to pay alimony. Mr. Hill argued that the court did not make the requisite findings on his ability to provide alimony for his ex-wife. *Hill*, 869 P.2d at 966. He argued that based upon his salary of \$1100 per month, a child support award of \$600 per month and an alimony award of \$100 per month was an abuse of discretion because it was simply more than he could afford to pay. *Ibid.* In affirming the award of alimony, the appellate court noted that:

Mrs. Hill concedes that the court did not make an express finding on Mr. Hill's ability to pay, but notes that the court fully considered this factor at trial. Mr. Hill provided the court with documentation concerning his present and historical earnings, along with his current expenses. . . . [The alimony] determination was therefore reasonable, given the remainder of the court's orders regarding the parties' financial obligations and the court did not abuse its discretion in making this determination.

---

<sup>1</sup> This Court should note that because of favorable tax treatment afforded the payor of alimony payments, Mr. Rehn in this case, a payment of \$1,200 for alimony or spousal support equates to an \$800 to \$900 in out of pocket payment, as the other \$300 to \$400 would be lost to the payor to taxes regardless of the alimony award.

<sup>2</sup> Appellee notes that while Judge Brian, in his findings, referred specifically to his review of the parties exhibits (which would include both parties' monthly expenses), he did not list the monthly budget for each of the parties as a specific finding. Appellee knows of no case requiring a trial court to make explicit findings regarding the month expenses of the parties in determining whether alimony should be awarded.



*Ibid.* Mr Rehn was given the opportunity to and did submit a list of his monthly expenses to the trial court. Judge Brian, in his findings, noted that “the parties are simply going to have to tighten up their belts and make do with less.” (Findings, ¶ 20). It is clear from this statement he considered the expenses of both parties, and the impact of his decision on these expenses, in making his award of alimony.

Finally, Charles Rehn argues on appeal that the trial court erred in finding there was no issue of underemployment, and in not using Mary Rehn’s historical earnings to impute an income higher than that attributed to her. (Appellant’s Brief 13-15). It is settled law that a trial court **may** but is not **required** to impute a higher income to a party where their historical earnings have been significantly higher and where the party clearly has the capacity to find employment consistent with their historical earnings. *Westenskow v. Westenskow*, 562 P.2d 1256 (Utah 1977). Furthermore, Utah courts have historically recognized that, where the mother’s time is needed at home to provide adequate care and nurturing for the parties’ minor children, it is not necessary to impute full-time employment income or even any income at all. *Fletcher v. Fletcher*, 615 P.2d 1218, 1123 (Utah 1980); *Watson v. Watson*, 837 P.2d 1, 3 (Utah App. 1992). In *Fletcher*, the court noted:

The record in the case will sustain the alimony award as an appropriate sum for support and maintenance. Plaintiff introduced into evidence a budget indicating family needs. . . . Her income was limited by part-time employment so she might give adequate care and nurturing to the three younger children,

ranging in age from four to eight. Defendant had sufficient income to provide support. The record sustains trial court's finding that the sum awarded for alimony was reasonable.

*Fletcher*, 615 P.2d at 1123. In addition, the Utah Court of Appeals has held that an award of \$2000 per month in alimony was not an abuse of discretion despite the trial court's failure to impute income to the wife. *Watson*, 837 P.2d at 3. The trial court had found that there was an "agreement by the parties that [Mrs. Watson] would not work outside the home but would remain in the home to care for the parties' minor child." *Ibid*. Based on that finding, it was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to "decline to impute any income to the plaintiff, at least until the child is in school on a full time basis." *Ibid*.

In the present case, Judge Brian found that Mary Rehn has been the primary caretaker for the parties' minor children. (Findings, ¶ 14, 38; Tr. 122). Furthermore, he found that "the emphasis of the parties has been properly placed in making sure that the children have been properly cared for by their mother." (Findings, ¶ 16; Tr. 122). Finally, he noted the age of the children, that "the youngest is just barely entering into the first grade." (Findings, ¶ 15). It is clear from the findings of Judge Brian that he properly considered the factors set forth in *Paffel*, and in considering those factors, also properly considered the necessary and important role that Ms. Rehn will have to play as mother of

the parties' children.<sup>3</sup>

Charles Rehn, in appealing the issue of alimony -- as well as the various other issues that he has raised on appeal -- raises a plethora of factual issues for the Court of Appeals' consideration. However, on appeal of these issues, Mr. Rehn is limited to arguing abuse of discretion and is not allowed to relitigate factual issues within the discretion of the trial court. In 1997 the Utah Supreme Court reiterated the long standing principal that alimony issues "are within the sound discretion of the trial court because of its advantaged position to assess evidence and ascertain facts." *Willey v. Willey*, 951 P.2d 226 (Utah 1997); citing to *Owen v. Owen*, 579 P.2d 911, 913 (Utah 1978). Furthermore, the Court noted that, while the Court of Appeals reviews these determinations for abuse of discretion, "considerable deference [should be granted] to the trial court due to its familiarity with the facts and the evidence." *Willey*, 951 P.2d 226, (Utah 1997), citing to *Paffel v. Paffel*, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah App. 1986).

While Ms. Rehn recognizes the Court of Appeals' responsibility to review these cases for an abuse of discretion by the trial court, she respectfully argues that these factual issues raised by Charles Rehn were thoughtfully considered by Judge Brian before making

---

<sup>3</sup> Another issue regarding Ms. Rehn's employability -- and one which Mr. Rehn on appeal has carefully chosen to ignore -- is the physical and psychological damage associated with an acoustic neurinoma tumor which, when discovered in 1984, had grown into her brain stem. The tumor was surgically removed but resulted in a loss of hearing in her left ear and a loss of nerve control in the muscles associated with her mouth. This issue is set forth in detail at Tr. 23-25.

his findings. To ask the appellate court to reconsider factual issues such as Ms. Rehn's employment history or Mr. Rehn's income and expenses, after Judge Brian has already considered these issues and made specific findings relating to them, seeks to invade that province of factual determination rightfully left to the trial court. The findings clearly indicate that Judge Brian carefully considered the three factors in *Paffel*, that he articulated specific findings relative to those three factors, and then issued an award of alimony consistent with Ms. Rehn's needs and Mr. Rehn's ability to pay.

For these reasons set forth above, there was clearly no abuse of discretion in awarding alimony in this case; therefore, Mr. Rehn's request that the matter be reversed and remanded back to the trial court should be denied.

#### B. Permanent Alimony

Charles Rehn also argues on appeal that the trial court erred in awarding alimony beyond the duration of the parties marriage. Mr. Rehn argues that, pursuant to the language in Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(7)(h),<sup>4</sup> a specific finding by the court that extenuating circumstances exists is necessary before an award of permanent alimony is made. Judge Brian, in awarding alimony, noted that:

---

<sup>4</sup> Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(7)(h) (1997) provides:

Alimony may not be ordered for a duration longer than the number of years that the marriage existed unless, at any time prior to the termination of alimony, the court finds extenuating circumstances that justify the payment of alimony for a longer period of time.

alimony has been carefully considered factoring in the length of the marriage, disparity in the abilities of the parties to earn income, the historical roles of both parties have played in this family during the 20-year marriage, the age of the little children who are the primary responsibility of the Plaintiff, and all other pertinent facts.

(Findings, ¶ 38). It is clear from that statement that the circumstances of the marriage, including the duration of the marriage, were fully considered by the court before it awarded alimony.

In *Watson v. Watson*, 837 P.2d 1 (Utah App. 1992), Mr. Watson argued that the trial court erred in awarding permanent alimony to his ex-wife. Using the same abuse of discretion standard which the court of appeals applies to all alimony reviews, the court affirmed an award of \$2,000 per month in alimony for two years, and for \$1,500 per month thereafter, until “the plaintiff remarries, dies or cohabits as defined by statute, or until further order of the court.” *Watson*, 837 P.2d at 3. The court of appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by basing its award “upon [Mr. Watson's] ability to earn, and the needs of [Mrs. Watson].” *Ibid*. In the present case, the findings clearly demonstrate that Judge Brian considered the 20 year duration of the marriage, Ms. Rehn’s work history and her need to care for and nurture her children, Mr. Rehn’s earning capacity and history, and his projected earning capacity. Therefore, Ms. Rehn respectfully argues that an award of permanent alimony in this case, when considered in light of the trial court’s findings, was appropriate and not an abuse of discretion.

### C. Child Support

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